JUN 7 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By Chief Deputy Clerk

JOSEPH WEISENFELD, TRUSTEE, AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPERS OF ORANGE COUNTY, INC.,

Petitioners,

CASE NO.: 81,653

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent,

APPEAL FROM AN EN BANC DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA CERTIFYING QUESTION IN CONFLICT WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Submitted by: GORDON H. HARRIS, ESQUIRE G. ROBERTSON DILG, ESQUIRE KENT L. HIPP, ESQUIRE GRAY, HARRIS & ROBINSON, P.A. P.O. Box 3068 Orlando, Florida 32802 (407) 843-8880 Attorneys for Petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, COMMUNITY DEVELOPERS OF ORANGE COUNTY, INC. ("COMMUNITY DEVELOPERS") and JOSEPH WEISENFELD, TRUSTEE, were the Plaintiffs/Appellees below and will be collectively referred to herein as "Weisenfeld," except where individual designations are appropriate.

Respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, was the Defendant/Appellant below and will be referred to herein as the "DOT."

References to the Appendix of this brief shall be indicated (A____). The Appendix contains a copy of the lower court's <u>en</u> <u>banc</u> decision in this case as well as a copy of the case with which it is in certified conflict - <u>Tampa-Hillsborough County</u> <u>Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corporation</u>, 608 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). Additionally, the Appendix contains copies of an Order denying Weisenfeld's Motion for Attorney's Fees and an Order denying Weisenfeld's Motion for Rehearing on that issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF FACTS

On September 29, 1988, the DOT recorded a map of reservation against a portion of property Weisenfeld held as Trustee in Seminole and Orange counties. In a Second Amended Complaint (A-29-43) Weisenfeld alleged that the property had been acquired to be developed as a project called Country Creek. The map encompassed all of the Orange County property and a substantial portion of the Seminole County property.

Recording the map of reservation against Weisenfeld's property had the effect of temporarily "freezing" (Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So. 2d 622, 626 (Fla. 1990)) the existing use of that property. Pursuant to Section 337.241(2), Florida Statutes (1987), once the map was recorded, no development permits, as defined by Section 380.031(4), Florida Statutes (1987), could have been be granted "by any governmental entity, for a period of 5 years from the date of recording such map, for new construction of any type or for renovation of an existing nonresidential structure that would exceed 20 percent of the appraised value of the structure." The recording of the map of reservation not only prohibited the issuing of development permits for an initial period of five years, it empowered the DOT to extend that period for an additional five years, if it so desired.

The impact of the map of reservation stemmed not so much from its potential duration as from the sweeping limitations it imposed on the uses of Weisenfeld's property. A development permit is defined by Section 380.031(4), Florida Statutes (1987), as including "any building permit, zoning permit, plat approval, or rezoning, certification, variance, or other action having the effect of permitting development as defined in this chapter." Development is defined in Section 380.04(1) of the chapter as "the carrying out of any building activity or mining operation, the making of any material change in the use or appearance of any structure or land, or the dividing of land into three or more parcels." Thus, imposition of the map of reservation effectively prohibited Weisenfeld from developing those portions of his property affected by the map.

On September 15, 1989, Weisenfeld filed suit in inverse condemnation to compel the DOT to take his property and/or to provide compensation for the time the map of reservation remained in effect. A-1-11. In his Complaint, Weisenfeld alleged that recording the map of reservation had prevented the development of his property. A-3-5. He alleged that the property had been acquired for the purpose of developing it pursuant to an existing Master Concept Plan. <u>Id</u>. (The Master Concept Plan is at A-6B). He further alleged that "By the time the Department of Transportation had filed the map of reservation, construction was either completed, underway or planned on all of the property";

that "the map of reservation made further construction impossible"; and that "if the development of the property had been permitted to proceed as scheduled, then the use of all property, construction, and marketing could have been conducted as a part of the overall plan to minimize costs and maximize returns."

On April 26, 1990, this Court, in <u>Joint Ventures</u>, found the statute that authorized the filing of maps of reservation unconstitutional because it permitted a taking without compensation. <u>Joint Ventures</u>, 563 So. 2d at 628. On June 1, 1990, the DOT withdrew the map of reservation. A-115.

On September 9, 1991, partial summary judgment as to liability was granted in favor of Weisenfeld.³ On March 22, 1993, the District Court of Appeal sitting <u>en banc</u> receded from its holding in <u>Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W &</u> <u>F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd</u>., 582 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), <u>rev. den</u>. 591 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 1991), reversed the summary

At the time the trial court granted summary judgment on behalf of Weisenfeld as to the property in Seminole County, it also granted a motion by the DOT to sever out all allegations as to the Orange County property and to transfer that portion of the Complaint to the Orange County Circuit Court. Subsequently, the trial court in the Orange County case also granted summary judgment as to liability. A notice of appeal of the Orange County decision was filed by the DOT on October 8, 1991. <u>Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld</u>, Fla. 5th DCA Case No. 93-00051. That case remains pending to date. On April 2, 1993, after it issued its <u>en banc</u> decision in this case, the Fifth District issued an Order denying Weisenfeld's Motion to Consolidate the two cases on appeal.

judgment and certified conflict with <u>A.G.W.S. Corp</u>., 608 So. 2d 52. Weisenfeld timely filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For almost two years, from September 29, 1988 to June 1, 1990, the DOT, under authority granted it pursuant to Section 337.241, Florida Statutes (1987), imposed a map of reservation against a portion of Weisenfeld's property. While the map remained in effect, that property was effectively frozen, as Weisenfeld was prohibited by law from developing it. In freezing Weisenfeld's property, the DOT did not seek to regulate the use of the property. It did not act under even the color of the state's police power. Instead, it acted for the sole purpose of reducing the cost of later acquiring the property. In other words, it took the property so affected for a public purpose. The freezing of Weisenfeld's property thus represented a taking, pure and simple, for which compensation must be paid.

In Agins v. City of Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255, 260 (1980), the United States Supreme Court recognized that even in a regulatory context: "The application of a general zoning law to particular property effects a taking if the ordinance does not substantially advance <u>legitimate</u> state interests,... <u>or</u> denies an owner economically viable use of his land," (emphasis added) (citations omitted). There are thus two separate, distinct and totally different situations in which even a zoning law will effect a

PAGE(s) MISSING

As the United States Supreme Court recognized in <u>First</u> <u>English Evangelical Lutheran Church v. County of Los Angeles</u>, 482 U.S. 304, 321 (1987), no subsequent action by the DOT, "can relieve it of the duty to provide compensation for the period during which the taking was effective." Moreover, this Court in <u>Joint Ventures</u>, expressly rejected the reasoning advanced by the appellate court below that trial courts should consider the circumstances of each map of reservation in determining whether a taking has occurred.

Based upon existing Florida and Federal case law, the filing of the map of reservation in the instant case constituted a per se temporary taking for which compensation must be paid. The question of whether or not the filing of the map denied WEISENFELD all "economically viable use" of his property is, therefore, moot. Under <u>Joint Ventures</u> and under the first <u>Agins</u> alternative a taking occurred. That fact does not have to be proven a third time. Accordingly, the decision below must be reversed and the DOT must be required to compensate Weisenfeld for the twenty months during which it took his property.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Because the Filing of the Map of Reservation</u> <u>Prevented Weisenfeld from Developing his</u> <u>Property, Both Florida and Federal Law</u> <u>Recognize That He Is Entitled to Compensation</u> For The Temporary Taking of His Property.

Although frequently labeled a regulatory taking by the courts and by Weisenfeld in previous pleadings, the filing of a map of reservation should properly be characterized as a statutory exercise of the power of eminent domain. The filing does not regulate anything. It simply prohibits a property owner, albeit temporarily, from making full use of his property. The effect of the filing is to transfer the power to develop the property from the landowner to the DOT. The filing has no purpose other than to allow the taking authority to purchase the property at some undefined future date based upon the use of the property would have, had it not been for the filing. The filing of a map of reservation compels the property owner to give up the right to develop his property without giving the property owner anything in return.

Temporary takings have long been recognized as compensable in the State of Florida. For example, it is routine in road projects to provide compensation not only for property taken in fee but also for what are known as temporary construction easements. <u>See e.g., Trailer Ranch, Inc. v. City of Pompano</u> <u>Beach</u>, 500 So. 2d 503 (Fla. 1986); <u>Division of Administration</u>, <u>State Department of Transportation v. Decker</u>, 450 So. 2d 1220

(Fla. 2d DCA 1984). In acquiring a temporary construction easement, the taking authority gains the right to use a portion of a land owner's property for a temporary period of time. The taking authority does so, however, only upon paying compensation to the land owner for the right to use his property in a specified manner for a specified period of time.

Temporary construction easements are acquired by the exercise of the taking authority's power of eminent domain. Whether the landowner would have used the property during the time of the easement is irrelevant. Similarly, it does not matter how much the easement interferes with or deprives the landowner of the economic use of his property. The amount of the landowner's remaining property is even more irrelevant. This is true because the acquisition of such easements has nothing to do with the exercise of police power. It advances a public good; it does not prevent a public harm. Such an easement, therefore, can only be acquired upon payment of full compensation to the property owner.

A regulatory taking, in contrast, is one resulting from the exercise of the state's police power. It is designed to prevent a public harm, or as this Court recognized in <u>Joint Ventures</u>, "for the protection of the general welfare." 563 So. 2d at 625; <u>see also Graham v. Estuary Properties, Inc</u>., 399 So. 2d 1374, 1379 (Fla. 1981) <u>cert. den. sub nom Taylor v. Graham</u>, 454 U.S. 1083 (1981). In such cases, where the danger to the public is

manifest, courts traditionally attempt to balance the need to prevent the danger against the property rights of the landowner. Under such circumstances, it is arguably permissible to consider the impact of the taking upon the property owner before determining whether the regulation has gone so far as to constitute a taking.

As can be seen, the filing of a map of reservation is far more akin to the taking of a temporary construction easement than to a regulatory taking. In filing the map of reservation, the DOT did not seek to prevent a public harm. No harm would have befallen the public had Weisenfeld been able to proceed with the development of the Country Creek project. Instead, the DOT sought only to advance a public good -- that of reducing the future cost of land acquisition by preventing Weisenfeld from developing property which the DOT might subsequently decide to condemn, presumably at a higher price than if the DOT could force the property to be preserved as raw land. As this Court noted in <u>Joint Ventures</u>:

> Indeed, the legislative staff analysis candidly indicates that the statute's purpose is not to prevent an injurious use of private property, but rather to reduce the cost of acquisition should the state later decide to condemn the property. Staff of Fla. H.R. Comm. on Transp., H.B. 314 (1985) Staff Analysis (March 25, 1985).

<u>Id</u>. at 626.

By filing the map of reservation, the DOT effectively acquired an easement over Weisenfeld's property which prevented him from developing it. In that respect, the impact of the filing differed little from the acquisition of a construction easement routinely taken by the DOT. While the land owner may retain title to the underlying property, such an easement prevents him from developing it. Under such circumstances, as in the instant case, the State must pay for the taking.

In determining this appeal, this Court should be governed by: First English Evangelical Lutheran Church v. County of Los Angeles, 482 U.S. 304 (1987); Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990); as well as by the reasoning stated by the District court of Appeal, Second District in Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corp., 608 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); and by the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District in its prior decision in Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W & F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd, 582 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

In <u>First English</u> the United States Supreme Court held that a temporary regulatory taking requires compensation⁴ and concluded: "where the government's activities have already worked a taking of all use of property, no subsequent action by the

⁴The Court subsequently reaffirmed its holding that regulatory takings are compensable in <u>Nolan v. California Coastal</u> <u>Commission</u>, 483 U.S. 825 (1987).

government can relieve it of the duty to provide compensation for the period during which the taking was effective." <u>First</u> <u>English</u>, 482 U.S. at 321.

In <u>Joint Ventures</u> this Court held that the imposition of a map of reservation was facially unconstitutional because it temporarily and for an impermissible purpose permitted the state to take private property without just compensation. <u>Joint</u> <u>Ventures</u>, 563 So. 2d at 628.

Finally, the majorities in <u>A.G.W.S. Corp.</u> and in <u>W & F</u> <u>Agrigrowth</u>, affirmed summary judgments against taking authorities "on the issue of the Authority's liability for the temporary taking" of property within a map of reservation filed by the Authorities. <u>W & F Agrigrowth</u>, 582 So. 2d at 792; <u>A.G.W.S.</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 608 So. 2d 52.

Since the imposition of the map of reservation against Weisenfeld's property constituted a temporary "taking," since no subsequent action by the DOT could relieve it of its duty to provide compensation for the period during which the taking was effective, and since summary judgment is appropriate in such cases, it follows inalterably that the trial court correctly held that Weisenfeld's property was taken during the time the map of reservation remained in effect and correctly ordered trial on the issue of compensation. Accordingly, this court must now reaffirm its holding in <u>Joint Ventures</u> and reverse the <u>en banc</u> decision below.

A. Under First English, the DOT is Required to Compensate Weisenfeld for any Temporary Taking of His Property.

In <u>First English</u>, the United States Supreme Court considered an interim county ordinance that prohibited property development in much the same way the filing of a map of reservation did. <u>First English</u>, 482 U.S. 304. By virtue of that ordinance no one could "construct, reconstruct, place or enlarge any building or structure, any portion of which is, or will be, located within" an area designated as an interim flood protection area. <u>Id</u>. at 307. First English Church, which had maintained a campground within the flood protection area, protested that the interim ordinance constituted a regulatory taking. The California Court of Appeals, citing the California Supreme Court opinion in <u>Agins</u> <u>v. City of Tiburon</u> 598 P.2d 25 (Cal. 1979), <u>aff'd</u>. <u>on other</u> <u>grounds</u>, 447 U.S. 255 (1980), rejected that argument concluding that a landowner could not maintain an inverse condemnation suit based upon a regulatory taking. 482 U.S. at 308-9.

On appeal, however, the United States Supreme Court began its analysis by recognizing that the holding in <u>Agins</u>, 598 P.2d 25, was not applicable because the regulations considered to be at issue by the state court in that case did <u>not</u> effect a taking. <u>First English</u>, 482 U.S. at 311. The Court then turned its attention to the issue of: "whether the Just Compensation Clause [and by implication, Article 10, Section 6 of the Florida

Constitution] requires the government to pay for `temporary' regulatory [in that case] takings." <u>Id</u>. at 313.

The Court initially concluded that under the Fifth Amendment, "government action that works a taking of property rights necessarily implicates the `constitutional obligation to pay just compensation.'" Id. at 315 (citing Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40, 49 (1960)). Quoting Justice Holmes, the Court noted: "a strong public desire to improve the public condition is not enough to warrant achieving the desire by a shorter cut than the constitutional way of paying for the change." Id. at 322. (Citing Pennsylvania Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 415 (1922). The Court further found that a landowner is entitled to bring an action in inverse condemnation as a result of the self-executing character of the Fifth Amendment with respect to compensation. Id. Citing the basic rule articulated in Pennsylvania Coal Co., the Court reiterated, "while property may be regulated to a certain extent, if regulation goes too far it will be recognized as a taking." First English, 482 U.S. at 316. The Court went on to note:

> While the typical taking occurs when the government acts to condemn property in the exercise of its power of eminent domain, the entire doctrine of inverse condemnation is predicated on the proposition that a taking may occur without such formal proceedings.

Id.

Having reaffirmed the right of a property owner to use an inverse condemnation suit to obtain compensation for even a regulatory taking, the Court proceeded to consider "whether abandonment [as in the instant case, of the regulations that caused the taking] by the government requires payment of compensation for the period of time during which [those] regulations deny a landowner all use of his land." First English, 482 U.S. at 318. In its analysis the Court considered a series of cases involving the temporary appropriation of private property by the United States for use during World War II. Id. See, Kimball Laundry Co. v. United States, 338 U.S. 1 (1949); United States v. Petty Motor Co., 327 U.S. 372 (1946); United States v. General Motors Corp., 323 U.S. 373 (1945). The Court then concluded: "These cases reflect the fact that `temporary' takings which, as here, deny a landowner all use of his property, are not different in kind from permanent takings, for which the Constitution clearly requires compensation. First English, 482 The Court further noted that invalidation of an at 318. ordinance creating a taking, "though converting the taking into a `temporary' one, is not a sufficient remedy to meet the demands of the Just Compensation Clause." Id. at 319. "[N]o subsequent action by the government can relieve it of the duty to provide compensation for the period during which the taking was effective." First English, 482 U.S. at 321.

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