797

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH WEISENFELD, Trustee,

Petitioner,

| FILED |
|----------------------|
| SID J. WHITE |
| 29 1993 1 L |
| CLERK, SUPREME COURT |
| Bv |
| Chief Deputy Clerk |

vs.

CASE NO.: 81,653

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

THORNTON J. WILLIAMS
General Counsel
THOMAS F. CAPSHEW
Assistant General Counsel
FLORIDA BAR ID # 0606545
Florida Department of Transportation
605 Suwannee Street, MS 58
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0458
Phone: (904) 488-9425

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Even under the most liberal interpretation of the summary judgment rule, WEISENFELD failed to meet his burden of proving he is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. WEISENFELD presented absolutely no evidence to the trial court to support the allegations contained in the unverified complaint. The trial court recognized WEISENFELD's complete absence of proof by stating in the order granting summary judgment that any damages awarded to WEISENFELD would be subject to WEISENFELD proving ownership of the property in question.

WEISENFELD for the first time in this case argues in his Initial Brief that the maps of reservation are not a regulation but an exercise of the state's eminent domain power. Because WEISENFELD argued before the trial court and the District Court of Appeal that the map of reservation constituted a regulatory taking, the argument that the maps of reservation are truly an exercise of the eminent domain power has been waived. Even so, the legislation authorizing maps of reservation clearly falls within this Court's definition of an exercise of the police power. Had this Court determined that the maps of reservation were truly an exercise in eminent domain, the proper remedy would have been compensation rather than striking down the exercise of a power the DEPARTMENT clearly possesses.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's en banc majority opinion

In this case correctly interprets this Court's opinion in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> to be adopting a case by case analysis for compensation for maps of reservation and did not adopt a per se entitlement to compensation. If WEISENFELD's argument is accepted, this Court's statement in its majority opinion that when compensation is claimed the appropriate inquiry is into the extent of the interference or the deprivation of economic use would be rendered dicta. Because this Court expressly stated in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> that it was not dealing with a claim for compensation, <u>Joint Ventures II</u> cannot be stare decisis for any other property owner's entitlement to compensation.

This Court's prior regulatory takings jurisprudence provides as a remedy the striking of a regulation that fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest. None of this Court's prior decisions have awarded compensation on this ground alone without looking into the extent of economic interference. The United States Supreme Court has never awarded compensation solely upon the ground that the regulation fails substantially advance a legitimate state interest and, in a similar case to the at hand, provided a remedy of striking the regulation rather than compensation for the period of time the regulation was in effect. Other jurisdictions are consistent with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's interpretation of Joint Ventures II and United States Supreme Court precedent.

By reaffirming this Court's standard that when compensation is claimed the appropriate inquiry into the extent of interference or deprivation of economic use of the property as a whole, the proper balance will be struck between the government's power to regulate and a property owner's right to use his or her property. If a regulation deprives a property owner of substantial economic use of his or her property then a trial court will determine a taking has occurred, even if the regulation is temporary. By requiring proof of deprivation of substantial economic use of the property, juridical resources and the resources of the state will not be wasted on nominal or nonexistent damage cases brought by property owners under a per se rule. The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this case should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT WEISENFELD IS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE OF COMPENSATION.

WEISENFELD completely ignores the <u>en banc</u> majority opinion's observation that WEISENFELD did not meet his burden of proof:

This summary adjudication by the trial court that compensation is due the plaintiff was not based upon a scintilla of proof in regard to damages supporting the motion affidavits, no depositions, no interrogatories, no sworn pleadings. Indeed, the only affidavit before the court was filed by the state to rebut any possible claim of ownership to a portion of land covered by the reservation map.

<u>Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld</u>, Case No.: 91-2234 (Fla. 5th DCA March 26, 1993) [18 Fla. L. Weekly D803].

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly ruled that the trial court committed reversible error in granting summary judgment in favor of WEISENFELD on the issue of compensation because WEISENFELD did not meet his burden of proof. WEISENFELD failed to place in evidence sufficient admissible evidence to support the cause of action.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has recently held "a summary judgment should not be granted unless, construing all the evidence most favorably to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the movent is entitled to a judgment as

a matter of law." American Crime Prevention Corp. v. Computerized Monitoring Service, Inc., 539 So.2d 1175, 1176 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) [citing to Holl v. Talcott, 191 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1966).] See also, Stewart v. Boho, Inc., 493 So.2d 95 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). The moving party must conclusively prove that there is no triable issue of material fact. American Crime, at 1176 Only after the moving party has conclusively proven that proposition does the burden shift to the opposing party. Id. at 1177. Florida Rules of Civil Procedure require that a trial court examine the evidence contained in the record to determine the propriety of a summary judgment:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.510(c).

None of the Complaints were verified and there were no depositions filed or any other discovery. Accordingly, WEISENFELD did not offer "sufficient admissible evidence to support his claim." <u>DeMesne v. Stephenson</u>, 498 So.2d 673, 675 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). "[A]ll evidence before the court plus favorable inferences reasonably justified thereby are to be liberally construed in favor of the opponent." <u>Aagaard-Juergensen</u>, Inc. v. Lettelier, 540 So.2d 224, 225 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

There was absolutely no evidence before the trial court to

support the bald allegations of the second Amended Complaint. Allegations are defined as "the assertion, claim, declaration, or statement of a party to an action, made in a pleading, setting out what he expects to prove." Black's Law Dictionary, 68 (5th ed. 1979). WEISENFELD has set out in his second Amended Complaint what he "expects to prove." Proof is defined as "the establishment of a fact by evidence." Black's Law Dictionary, 1093 (5th ed. 1979).

Evidence has been defined as "something legally submitted to a competent tribunal as a means of ascertaining the truth of any alleged matter of fact under investigation before it." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, 788 (Unabridged 1986). Evidence must be used to prove allegations. Absent proof, a plaintiff is not entitled to a judgment.

Examining the record in its entirety in this case, there is no evidence to support any of WEISENFELD's allegations. None of WEISENFELD's pleadings were verified. No depositions were filed. No answers to interrogatories were on file. No admissions were on file from either an answer to the complaint or in response to requests for admissions. WEISENFELD filed no affidavits in support of its position. There is not one stick of evidence in the record in support of WEISENFELD's allegations.

In fact, the trial court recognized it did not have evidence before it to support the allegation that WEISENFELD owned the

property: "Any award of damages shall be conditioned upon proof of ownership of the property in question." (A 141) In other words, the trial court ruled that the second Amended Complaint sufficiently alleged and WEISENFELD proved that the DEPARTMENT owed someone some money for the filing of the map, it just may not be WEISENFELD! If WEISENFELD didn't own the property, he has no standing to sue the DEPARTMENT. Because a "taking" has now been found, WEISENFELD's costs and attorneys' fees will be paid even if it is later determined WEISENFELD is not the real party in interest.

This country's judicial system is bottomed on the proposition that a judgment will not be entered against a party unless and until sufficient facts to support that judgment either (1) are determined by a fact finder to have been proven or (2) are admitted by the parties. Because no evidence was filed by WEISENFELD to support the allegations of the second Amended Complaint, the trial court's summary judgment in this matter has the effect of the entry of a default judgment pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.500 which, under Florida case law, deems the allegations of the complaint admitted. There is no question that the DEPARTMENT timely filed its appearance in this case and has vigorously defended it. The trial court erred as a matter of law in entering summary judgment in favor of WEISENFELD without requiring proof of each and every essential allegation of the complaint.

II. THE FILING OF A MAP OF RESERVATION IS AN EXERCISE OF THE STATE'S POLICE POWER, NOT AN EXERCISE OF EMINENT DOMAIN.

In its Initial Brief, WEISENFELD attempts to tell this Court that its opinion in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990) ("Joint Ventures II") found that the governmental action is really an exercise in eminent domain rather than an exercise of the police power. (IB 7-10, 15-17) While acknowledging that WEISENFELD's previous pleadings characterize the map of reservation as a regulatory taking, WEISENFELD "changes boats midstream" to now argue for the first time before this Court that the filing of the map of reservation was not a regulation of WEISENFELD's property but an exercise of the power of eminent domain. (IB 7)³ A theory not argued to the trial court is considered waived and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See Universal Underwriters Ins. vs. Morrison, 574 So.2d 1063, 1065 (Fla. 1990); Epperson vs. Dixie Insurance Co., 461 So.2d 172 (1st DCA 1984), rev. denied 471 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1985).

Counsel for the DEPARTMENT will not presume to tell this Court what it held in <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, but would point out that this Court repeatedly referred to the action condemned in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> as an exercise of the police power: "The state may not use its police power in such a manner." <u>Id.</u>, at 626. <u>See also Id.</u>, at 625,

³ The argument made by WEISENFELD to the trial court that was successful was that <u>Joint Ventures II</u> found maps of reservation "unconstitutional because it permitted a temporary <u>regulatory</u> taking but did not provide compensation." (DCA App. 86) WEISENFELD again cited <u>Joint Ventures II</u> for proposition that there has been "a 'taking' by regulation..." (DCA App. 93)

fn. 9, and 627. The Legislature's enactment of the map of reservation statute clearly falls within this Court's historical definition of an exercise of the police power. Hunter v. Green, 142 Fla. 104, 194 So. 379 (1940). "The expression 'police power', in a broad sense, included all legislation and almost every function of civil government." Id., at 380. This Court went on to define "police power" as the power vested in the legislature by the Constitution to make reasonable laws not repugnant to the Constitution "as they shall judge to be for the good and welfare of the commonwealth, and of the subjects of the same." Id. state's police power to regulate "is limited only by the requirements of fundamental law that the regulations shall not invade private rights secured by the Constitution." Carroll v. State, 361 So.2d 144, 147 (Fla. 1978). When an attempted exercise of the police power passes the bounds of reason it will be stricken down and declared void. Id., at 146. Striking of the statute is the remedy provided by this Court in Joint Ventures II.

The Department of Transportation was the governmental entity involved in <u>Joint Ventures II</u>. There can be no question that the Department of Transportation has both the duty to plan proposed transportation facilities (§334.044(12)&(13), Florida Statutes (1991)), and the power to exercise eminent domain to provide for the transportation needs of the State of Florida. §334.044(6), Florida Statutes (1991). Had this Court determined that the map of reservation statute was in actuality an exercise of eminent domain,

the appropriate remedy would have been to require that the DEPARTMENT condemn the interest "acquired" by the filing of the maps of reservation rather than striking the regulation as an exercise of a power the Department of Transportation clearly has. There is no question in this case now before this Court that the map of reservation was withdrawn. (DCA App. 56, 79, 85, 139)

WEISENFELD likens the map of reservation to a construction (IB 7-8, 10). In fact, WEISENFELD goes so far as to easement. argue "[t]he effect of the filing is to transfer the power to develop the property from the landowner to the DOT." (IB 7). This argument clearly overstates the legal effect of a map of The legislative enactment did not allow the reservation. DEPARTMENT to do anything with the property encompassed by a map of reservation: it did not permit the DEPARTMENT to possess the property; it did not permit the DEPARTMENT to use the property, and it did not permit the DEPARTMENT to develop the property. these factors distinguish a map of reservation from a construction easement.

WEISENFELD also argues that the difference between the police power and the eminent domain power is a difference between

This Court stated that the state could facilitate the general welfare by economizing the expenditure of public funds, citing to <u>Department of Transportation v. Fortune Federal Savings and Loan Association</u>, 532 So.2d 1267 (Fla. 1988). However, the use of the police power to achieve that goal is "not consistent with the constitution." <u>Joint Ventures</u>, 563 So.2d at 626.

prevention of harm verses creation of public benefit. (IB 8-9) The prevention of harm verses creation of public benefit analysis was specifically rejected by the United States Supreme Court last term.

The Supreme Court in <u>Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council</u>, 120 L.Ed.2d 798 (1992), expressly rejected the "harm preventing verses benefit conferring" distinction as "often in the eye of the beholder." <u>Id.</u>, at 818. The distinction "is difficult, if not impossible, to discern on an objective, value free basis; it becomes self-evident that noxious-use logic cannot serve as a touchstone" to determine which regulations require compensation. <u>Id.</u>, at 819. 5

The property owners in this inverse condemnation case allege that they own property, a portion of which was encompassed within an invalidated map of reservation. The property owners argue that this Court's ruling in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> entitles them to an automatic finding that a "taking" of their property occurred during the effective dates of the map of reservation without any further inquiry, and that they are then entitled to a jury trial to determine damages, whether substantial or nominal. No cases, including <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, support the argument advanced by WEISENFELD and there are strong public policy considerations that

⁵ The United States Supreme Court has found the "public use" requirement of the takings clause to be "conterminous with the scope of a sovereign's police powers." <u>Hawaii Housing Authority v. Midkiff</u>, 467 U.S. 229, 240 (1984).

weigh against adopting such a rule.

III. NO COURT HAS ADOPTED A PER SE ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION RULE FOR REGULATORY TAKINGS THAT FAIL TO SUBSTANTIALLY ADVANCE A LEGITIMATE STATE INTEREST.

The property owner's interpretation of <u>Joint Ventures II</u> not only violates the express holding of <u>Joint Ventures II</u> but is wholly unsupported by regulatory takings caselaw from any state or federal jurisdiction. No court, including this Court and the United States Supreme Court, has adopted a per se entitlement to compensation for regulations invalidated for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest.⁶

A. THIS COURT IN JOINT VENTURES II DID NOT ADOPT A PER SE ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION.

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